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United States Department of the Interior
BUREAU OF SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENTAL ENFORCEMENT 

Pacific OCS Region 
760 Paseo Camarillo, Suite 102 

Camarillo, CA 93010-6064

Kaitlin McNally
Compliance Division Manager
Air Pollution Control District
Santa Barbara County
260 N. San Antonio Rd., Suite A
Santa Barbara, CA 93110

RE: Platform Hogan and Houchin Variance Petitions - July 5th Hearing Board Meeting

Dear Ms. McNally,

It was a pleasure meeting with you and David Harris on Wednesday, May 10th.  I appreciate you 
and David taking the time to provide an overview of the status of the air permit variance extensions 
related to the two referenced facilities, Platforms Hogan and Houchin.   During our discussions you 
indicated that at the December 2022, SBCAPCD Hearing Board Meeting, there was some 
discussion about who is the Responsible Party for the two facilities, and if an Abatement Order
was considered, to whom would it be issued?  The Bureau of Safety and Environmental
Enforcement (BSEE) has considered these two questions and offers the following responses:

1. Who is responsible for decommissioning the facilities?

There is presently no simple answer to this question, except to say that the issue is currently
being litigated before the Interior Board of Land Appeals (IBLA).

As background, ConocoPhillips Company (COP) sold its partial record title interest in the
underlying Federal outer Continental Shelf lease to Signal Hill Services, Inc. in 1991, after the
Hogan and Houchin Platforms had been constructed and certain wells on the Lease had been
drilled. The other partial record title owners of the Lease at that time did the same. Thereafter,
Signal Hill became the owner of 100% of the record title interest.

On October 14, 2020, Signal Hill sent a Relinquishment of Federal Oil and Gas Lease to the
Bureau of Ocean Energy Management. BSEE
determined that Signal Hill had preemptively defaulted on its obligations to decommission the
wells and facilities under the terms of the Lease and Department of the Interior regulations
promulgated pursuant to the Outer Continental Shelf Lands Act (OCSLA). As a result of this
default, BSEE invoked Departmental regulations allowing it to seek performance from prior
leaseholders of obligations that had accrued during their tenure. To that end, in November 2020,
BSEE ordered the prior lessees (COP, Oxy, and Devon) to ipelines,

held an accrued
obligation. These decommissioning orders also required the prior lessees 
required maintenance and monitoring of the platforms, wells, and pipelines on the Lease for the
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The prior lessees chose to appeal those orders to the IBLA, disputing that they accrued the 
relevant decommissioning obligations under the applicable Lease terms and regulations.  

In connection with that filing, the parties entered into a partial stay agreement to address the 
ordered performance during pendency of the appeal. That agreement requires the prior lessees 
to perform certain maintenance and monitoring activities to maintain safety and environmental 
protection and to preserve the Lease assets for decommissioning while the appeal disputing 
their ultimate decommissioning responsibility is pending. The IBLA approved the agreement in 
February 2021. Since that time, COP and its contractors have invested extensive resources into 
the maintenance and restoration of the Hogan and Houchin facilities under this agreement, 
including repair, replacement, and upkeep of equipment designed to control and minimize 
emissions. Briefing of the issue of liability was completed in August 2021. The parties now 
await the decision. 

Accordingly, the question of legal liability for decommissioning the facilities remains 
unresolved at this time, and the federal government has entered into an advantageous agreement 
with the prior lessees to maintain and monitor the facilities in the meantime. 

2. Abatement order? 
 
The authority to order and enforce plugging and abandonment of wells drilled on federal leases 
on the outer Continental Shelf lies with BSEE under OCSLA and its implementing regulations. 
BSEE has exercised that authority through issuance of the orders to the predecessor lessees. The 
proper administration of those obligations pursuant to the relevant applicable authorities is 
currently pending resolution before the IBLA as delegated representative of the Secretary of the 
Interior. Action by the SBCAPCD to order additional decommissioning activities under the 
circumstances would be inconsistent with the applicable legal regime. 

 
Should legal counsel who represent the SBCAPCD Board Members wish to discuss these matters 
with our attorneys within the  Office of the Solicitor, they may contact: 
 
Matthew Ballenger, Assistant Solicitor 
matthew.ballenger@sol.doi.gov 
Telephone: 202-208-2485 
 
Through routine BSEE inspections at these facilities, and quarterly updates by COP and their agent 
Beacon-West, it has been well documented that the ongoing work has far exceeded the terms of the 
Partial Stay Agreement.  A vital upgrade has been the repair of the cranes on both platforms, which 
took a significant amount of time, effort, and ingenuity.  Without their repair, most of the work to 
help ensure worker safety, such as replacement of deck plating, handrails, stairs, landings, etc., 
would not have been possible. 
 
Related to air quality issues, the flare on Hogan was put back-into-service in January 2023, after the 
upgrades that I mentioned were completed.  Only then could the repair of the flare be done safely.   
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Wells on Platform Hogan that exhibit gas pressure, monitored daily, are periodically bled down for 
safety considerations with the vented gas now able to be flared per SBCAPCD requirements. 
  
Now that a working crane has been installed on Houchin, similar facility upgrades are ongoing, 
including new deck plating around the damaged flare boom.  This preliminary work is necessary 
before this flare can be safely repaired and put back-into-service, which is anticipated to be done by 
September 2023.  In addition, pipelines have been removed from the wellheads at both facilities and 
these connections blind-flanged, to reduce the potential for fugitive emissions. 
  
Most of the significant facility upgrades at Platform Hogan needed to address worker health and 
safety have been addressed.  Platform Houchin, which in general terms was in worse condition than 
Platform Hogan when Signal Hill relinquished the lease, still requires a significant number of 
upgrades.  COP estimates that the facility repair and upgrade work necessary to bring it into a 
condition where well abandonment and decommissioning work can be conducted safely may take a 
year or more.  In addition, Covid-19 caused many delays for the projects  previously mentioned. 
 
Approval of future SBCAPCD air permit variance requests is critical for the necessary and 
appropriate ongoing facility maintenance and repairs to continue and for COP to comply with the 
Partial Stay Agreement.  We are not aware of viable alternatives to these arrangements under the 
current circumstances.  All the work they are currently doing is what a prudent operator would be 
doing to prepare these facilities for future well abandonment projects and ultimately the 
decommissioning of these platforms. 
 
I plan to attend the July 5th Hearing Board meeting and  more than glad to answer any questions 
you or the SBCAPCD Board members may have. 
 
Thank you for your consideration in this matter. 
 
 

Respectfully, 
 
 
 
 
Bruce H. Hesson, PE 
Regional Director, Pacific Region 
Bureau of Safety and Environmental Enforcement 
760 Paseo Camarillo, Suite 102 
Camarillo, CA 93010 

 
 
Enclosures  Partial Stay Agreement, Orders (COP, Oxy, Devon) 


















































